76

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2017-002145  
Civil Case No.: 2016-CP-02350

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 19 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Glenda R. Couram ..... Appellant,

v.

Sherwood Tidwell ..... Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Glenda Couram  
104 Macaw Lane  
Lexington, SC 29073  
(803) 358-0127  
*PRO SE APPELLANT*

Other Counsel of Record:  
Jescelyn Spitz, Esquire  
Clawson & Staubes, LLC  
1612 Marion Street, #200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
*ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT*

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION/ERRED, COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT DENIED THE ADMISSION OF MEDICAL RECORDS, BILLS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS WITHOUT REVIEWING THE EVIDENCE, REFUSING TO REVIEW TO FAIRLY DETERMINE THEIR ADMISSIBILITY UNDER RULE 803 (ROA 132-157)**
- II. DID THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSE ITS DISCRETION OR COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERR OF LAW IN DENYING PRO SE APPELLANT'S EVIDENCE UNDER THE BUSINESS RECORD EXCEPTION SCRE 803 OF THE HEARSAY RULE, HOLDING HER TO A HIGHER STANDARD AND KNOWLEDGE**
- III. DID TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT GRANTING THE PRO SE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE DUE TO SURPRISE IN NOT ADMITTING HER MEDICAL RECORDS, BILLS, LETTERS AND AFTER AGREEING TO CALL NO WITNESSES – THE COURTS KNOWLEDGE SHE WAS DEPENDING ON RULE 803(6) (ROA 152-157)**
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY HOLDING THIS PRO SE APPELLANT TO A HIGHER STANDARD THAN SIMIARILY SITUATED INDIVIDUALS SINGLING HER OUT TO DENY DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE 1<sup>ST</sup> AND 14<sup>TH</sup> ADMENDMENT BECAUSE OF HER PRO SE STATUS WHEN IT DENIED THE PLAINTIFF'S RULE 59(e) MOTION DENYING A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE, NEW TRIAL NISI AND UNDER THE 13<sup>TH</sup> JUROR DOCTRINE**
- V. DID THE TRAIL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERR OF LAW WHEN IT REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON PUNITIVE DAMAGES AS REQUEST BY PRO SE APPELLANT ALLOWED UNDER SC LAW? (ROA 315-317)**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's denial of pro se Appellant's, Glenda Couram's (Appellant, Plaintiff or Couram), Motion for New Trial Nisi Additur, or in the Alternative, New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59 SCRPC, and under Thirteenth Juror Doctrine following a two day trial from June 15-16, 2017. And, the results of a Trial held on June 15-16, 2017 were the jury verdict was in favor of the pro se Appellant. (Verdict Form ROA 1)

On March 28, 2016 (April 12, 2016) and after many attempts to settle<sup>1</sup> (Exhibits and Emails ROA 495-508) by pro se Appellant a Negligence Complaint against the Respondent was filed in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas:

The Complaint alleged that Tidwell (Respondent) was negligent. Respondent was ticketed for driving too fast for conditions; the ticket was not contested and freely paid the ticket.

The Respondent via his initial attorney Anne Wade Sumner, Esq., filed an Answer on May 10, 2016. Respondent admitted liability from the start in admissions, thru admissions at accident scene and paid for damages to all vehicles damaged. (Respondent's Answer Exhibit ROA 37-43).

Appellant ultimately, due to new Attorney Spitz's denial of liability filed on February 3, 2016, a Motion for Partial or Full Summary Judgment; a hearing was held before Judge Robert Hood in Richland County Court of Common Pleas on April 27, 2016. Columbia, South Carolina this court thus has jurisdiction. Appellant also during that hearing dropped a Motion to Quash subpoena filed by Defendant for her records from Columbia Counseling Center.

"On February 16, 2017, Defendant filed an Offer of Judgment pursuant to Rule 68 of the SC Rules of Civil Procedure in which he offered the sum on twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) to Plaintiff in full compromise and settlement of her claims. Plaintiff rejected Defendant's offer.

---

<sup>1</sup> (Mediation was conducted and an "impasse was declared).

Judge Hood granted partial summary judgment in Appellant's favor as to liability; the written Order was signed on June 1, 2017. The trial was supposed to have been for damages only. (Order Granting Partial SJ ROA 18 -20 and Motions ROA 59-65, ROA 66-69 and ROA 70-79).

Under the laws of South Carolina in this type of civil action a person injured by another's negligence is entitled to recovery of damages and to be made whole. Appellant was entitled to compensation for medical bills, economic and general damages such as pain and suffering and emotional distress to include punitive damages; special damages for lost wages, lost time from work, out-of-pocket expenses including future medical costs and wages past and future.<sup>2</sup>

This matter was tried in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas before Judge Jocelyn Newman on June 15-16, 2017. The jury found Respondent owed the Appellant a duty, that he breached that duty and that he was the proximate "but for" cause of her injuries. (See Exhibits Verdict ROA 1).

On June 16, 2017 after a two day trial the jury ruled in favor of the Appellant but only awarded \$1000 in contrast to jury instructions (ROA 379-390). The court later based on a Rule 68<sup>3</sup> Settlement Offer reduced that amount to less than half in a criminal court. <sup>4</sup>

On June 16, 2017, jury returned unanimous verdict in favor of Plaintiff in the amount of one thousand dollars (\$1000)."

"The jury's determination of damages cannot be left to conjecture, guesswork or speculation. Damages must be proven to a reasonable degree of certainty. In other words, a

---

<sup>2</sup> Collateral source rule A tortfeasor (at fault party) cannot "take advantage of a contract between an injured party and a third person, no matter whether the source of the funds received is an insurance company, an employer, a family member, or other source." *Pustaver v. Gooden*, 350 S.C. 409, 413, 566 S.E.2d 199, 201 (Ct.App.2002) (citations omitted).

<sup>3</sup> A Rule 68 Motion was filed by the Defendant – as a result of the jury verdict the court granted more than half of the award back to the Defendant for permanently hurting the plaintiff; she did so with a smile on her face during a criminal hearing she was presiding over

<sup>4</sup> Verdict Form – Do you, the jury, unanimously find that the Plaintiff Glenda R Couram suffered damages? The jury checked -- Yes; Do you the jury, unanimously find that the damages suffered by Plaintiff, Glenda R Couram were proximately caused by the conduct of the Defendant? The jury checked – Yes.

plaintiff is never entitled to recover conjectural or speculative damages .... the evidence must allow you to determine what amount of damages is fair, just and reasonable.... (Jury Charge ROA 370-389)<sup>5</sup>

See Judge's response to motion for new trial where she focused her reason to deny the SCRCR Rule 59 Motion on the SCRCR Rule 68 Order and Appellant's non acceptance, not the proffered evidence submitted by pro se Appellant but on a conversation appeared to have had with the jury after the trial as indicated in the denial.

In responding to the Rule 59(E) Motion Judge Newman denies receiving the proffered documents submitted by Appellant with the Motion and Memorandum, she states they were *disposed of* indicating that once again she refused to even look at the submission of evidence to determine their admissibility under well established law a right that she repeatedly denies to the plaintiff but feely allows to other similarly situated individuals. (Email ROA 508 and Exhibit ROA 21-26).

The court denied the pro se Appellant right to submit the required evidence to the jury, citing Rules SCRE 408, 801 and 802. The Judge and Respondent forgot about SCRE Rule 803. Therefore they left the jury with nothing but conjecture, guesswork and speculation.

Plaintiff informed the judge she was going to file the Rule 59 Motion, the exparte communication with the jury surely had a say in what her decision was because she states (ROA 21- 23) "it appears the Jury found the Plaintiff lacked credibility." The judge goes on to say, the jury determined "that it was a low speed, three-car collision in which neither of the other drivers suffered any injury whatsoever."

---

<sup>5</sup> Under South Carolina common law, future damages are generally allowed in personal injury and medical malpractice cases. See *Haltiwanger v. Barr*, 258 S.C. 27, 186 S.E.2d 819 (1972) (holding that future damages may be recovered in a personal injury action so long as the damages are reasonably certain to result in the future from the injury); see also *Ward v. Epting*, 290 S.C. 547, 351 S.E.2d 867 (Ct.App.1986) (holding that evidence of loss of future earnings admissible in a medical malpractice case).

Apparently this was the reason behind the inadequate verdict told to the judge and not the Pro se and Respondent and the jury charges/instructions given by the Judge was completely ignored and this conflicting verdict and sidebar was okay with the Judge. (ROA 381-392).

If the jury felt the Plaintiff lacked credibility why rule in her favor that the Respondent caused her injuries? This a contrary ruling, that reeks of judicial bias if the comments were solely the judges and if not it was a decision by the jury that contradicted the verdict, a decision that ignored the law, a verdict that resulted for caprice, passion, prejudice, partiality, corruption or with other improper motives. See *Knoke v SC Depart. of Parks, Recreation and Tourism*, 324 SC 136, 478 Se 2d 256 (1996).

Respondent caused the harm he was cushioned by his commercial vehicle, Brown was in his mid twenties or early thirties, he could have saw Respondent coming and braced for the impact there are any number of reason why they were not injured. Brown was driving a sedan a Cadillac plaintiff was driving a compact car.

See New Jersey Supreme Court case *Davis v Husain*, 106 A. 3d 438 (NJ Sup Ct 2014) Exparte Communication with jury after verdict; if the information on page 3 is true this judge violated Cannon 3A(6) even being fully aware the pro se was going to file a Rule 59 Motion:

“[t]he judge was neither conducting a hearing nor seeking advice on any pending legal matter. Inasmuch as the jury had completely discharged its function, the case was over as far as it was concerned. Indeed, the record of the colloquy with the jurors demonstrates that the judge was simply trying to enlighten the members of the jury as to the legal proceeding in which they had been asked to participate as part of the judicial process. Although we do not endorse the procedure used here, we can fully appreciate that in many situations this is desirable in order to help jurors to understand the nature of legal proceedings, which thereby promote their confidence in the judicial system. By no means was this, nor should it have been, a formal judicial inquiry into trial matters warranting the presence of counsel. Nonetheless, we are of the view that trial judges should refrain from such interaction in the future so as to avoid the type of allegations of judicial bias that have been made in this appeal or other claimed grounds for appeal. [*Id.* at 7, 678 A.2d 261.]”

There is every indication that the judges interaction with the jury, may have affected the judge's already tainted view of this pro se Appellant and the comment if in fact came from the jury compromised the impartiality and subsequent ruling with respect to the motion for a new trial

Given Judge Newman's view of the Appellant it is real mystifying the is unable to see how her actions are grounds for recusal and she has abused her discretion in not recusing herself from hearing any cases involving this pro se given her own prejudicial comments about the pro se's integrity and attitude towards her, instead she would rather see this pro se denied civil rights and justice in the courts..<sup>6</sup>

*Pearson v Bridges* (SC Ct App) In personal injury actions, great latitude is allowed in the introduction of evidence to aid in determining the extent of damages; and as a broad general rule, any evidence which tends to establish the nature, character, and extent of injuries which are the natural and proximate consequences of defendant's acts is admissible, if otherwise competent. *Martin*, 253 S.C. at 103, 169 S.E.2d at 278.

See *Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp.*, 305 S.C. 187, 407 S.E.2d 630 (1991) (The jury must be presented with all evidence from which it can make a logical, well informed decision. A jury's verdict cannot "be left to conjecture, guess or speculation.") (quoting *Gray v. Southern Facilities, Inc.*, 256 S.C. 558, 183 S.E.2d 438 (1971));

---

<sup>6</sup> On May 8, 2018 involving an Appeal indicating the same litigants involved in this matter this Judge showed up in Lexington County to hear that appeal and at that hearing she had the pro se sworn/affirmed in to tell the truth not as a witness for a advocate for her case.

On May 15, 2018, involving the same individuals and case, she once again had this pro se Appellant sworn/affirmed and refused to recuse herself.<sup>6</sup> Indicating the Appellant was not a "reasonable person, I am glad you used the word reasonable." When asked why she did not have the opposing sworn in "they have been already" pros se assumes this was when they were sworn in as attorneys, so that would mean they are incapable of lying as the PRO SE obviously is capable of doing, she left the room full of people already believing this pro se was a liar and "lacked credibility" even before she got on a witness stand to testify.

After the verdict Appellant moved for a new trial nisi additur, or, in the alternative, new trial absolute pursuant to Rule 59 SCRPC and under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. The basis for the motion was that the jury verdict was inadequate, abuse of discretion by the trial judge. (Motion for New Trial ROA 80-100).

On October 4, 2017, Judge Newman denied the Motion. The Judge took four months to respond to the Motion to Reconsider and only after the Plaintiff asked for a response in order to file this Appeal and in an email she denied receiving any proffered documents submitted by the Appellant and “if she had sent submitted them they were disposed of” (Email ROA 508 and ROA 80-100).

On May 8, 2017, Appellant went to the court to review the records and the documents were submitted and on file the judge did not once again bother to review.

Appellant received a written copy of the Order on October 4, 2017, and filed a timely notice of intent to Appeal on October 12, 2017 and a corrected copy with the written Order October 20, 2017. (R 126 and 128)<sup>7</sup>

As stated the pro se Appellant timely filed the Notice of Appeal or appealed.

The trial court denied the pro se Appellant’s Motion for a new trial nisi, absolute and under the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine on October 4, 2017 four months after the Motion was filed:

The reason page 4 of the 59 Motion Denial:

“JUDGE CONCLUSION OF LAW:

The court disagrees with Plaintiff and finds no basis, in law or in fact to grant the recovery requested by Plaintiff. “It appears the jury found that Plaintiff lacked credibility in her contention that she sustained severe injuries and

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant filed this negligence action in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas after many, many attempts to settle – offers from the insurance started at 10k for medicals and 2500 for pain and suffer – Rick Skurko. Appellant was sent to a higher claims adjuster Tracy Peer whose final offer on August 2016 was \$15,000 when the medical bills at this time were \$10,444 (See Subrogation letter Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina and Letter from Adjuster, Bills from Vital Energy–Medical Bill and Records Exhibits ).

“substantial damage” in a low speed, three-car collision in which neither of the other drivers suffered any injury whatsoever.”

None of this was articulate on the jury verdict form so this insight, stated by the court, must have come after the trial and *during the meeting* with the jurors and after the verdict which does not indicate the Plaintiff was not creditable - met with the jury after the trial verdict was read (apparently to hand out checks to Jury members). (ROA 386-392)

This statement indicates the judge’s inability to accept this pro se Appellant as someone who can tell the truth under any circumstances, that she had no intentions of reading or looking or allowing the submission of the evidence needed by the jury to make an informed fact based decision from the very moment she contacted this Appellant informing her that her case had been reassigned to her and if the Appellant wanted the case heard that week she must decline to call witnesses (Email ROA 502-508).

Trial Judge had no intention of allowing the jury to make this Appellant whole therefore the ambush from the moment the pro se Appellant entered into the courtroom Judge Newman handed the Reporter an email for the record.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This pro se Appellant had no pre-existing physical injuries prior to this accident that took place On September 18, 2018, a Friday, the Appellant was found by the Respondent at approximately 4:15 to 4:30 pm at a complete stop in rush hour traffic on I-20 headed towards Lexington County where she resides and owns property since 1994 sitting still in traffic, she never flagged the Respondent down, she never asked him to hit her she was an innocent victim who has been denied justice, due process and the right to be fully heard.

At the time of this accident the Appellant was less than 2 months from her 57<sup>th</sup> birthday, November 3<sup>rd</sup>, she had just lost her Mother in July 2015. The pro se Appellant’s medical records

can attest to these facts. At 55 years of age she was dropped by her health insurance carrier due to her age and gone downhill and being too expensive to insure.

The day was dry and clear, the traffic was the normal heavy traffic on I-20 W headed towards Augusta/Lexington. The Appellant had just gotten off from work at SC Department of Motor Vehicles and was headed towards the house.

While in the left lane the traffic had come to a standstill no one was moving. The car behind Appellant was at a complete stop and all traffic surrounding was at a complete stop in all lanes. Suddenly, Pro se Appellant was suddenly jerked forward and in disbelief she got out of the car and learned she had just become involved in a three car accident caused by Respondent/Defendant Tidwell. He collided into Brown's car and the impact forced Brown's car into Appellants. (ROA 283-302)

The accident and Appellant's involvement caught her completely off guard, when she got out of the car she had to ask Brown what happened it was so unbelievable. Appellant was safely stopped, Brown was safely stopped, how and why me it was just unfair. Appellant was asked by Brown and Respondent if she was okay, the response was "she did not know. Respondent testified to the Plaintiff's confusion after the accident. (ROA 283-292).

Appellant asked Brown to call "HP" After Officer came the cars were moved to right side of the road about 2 or 3 miles plus miles from the Spartanburg exit.

The responding Officer Riley asked Appellant if she was okay she told him, she did not know, still in shock about getting hit. The Officer asked a couple of more times, the same as the Respondent. Officer asked if she wanted an Ambulance, at the time Appellant did not, still in shock at being hit and feeling extremely tired and unfocused.

Highway patrol gave permission for Appellant and Brown to leave. The Respondent remained. Plaintiff at the accident took a couple of pictures of her car and then upon arrival to the house took a few more photos of her car.

Plaintiff was told on the 15<sup>th</sup> of September 2015, by Dr. Birdsong that she was borderline diabetic (the week of the accident). A goal to lose weight, at the times she was 160 before it became an official diagnoses so you can see why this accident caused her great harm in more ways than physical, see Doctor's letter/report dated September 15, 2015. The goal and hope was to have her weight down by December 30, 2015 the next appointment.

#### **WHAT HAPPENED ON SEPTEMBER 18, 2015**

At approximately 4:30 pm on September 18, 2015, the day was clear, no rain, not cold but the traffic was heavy. Appellant was in the far left lane. Traffic came to a standstill. Appellant stopped behind the vehicle in front of her the middle car (Brown) stopped behind her. Tidwell/Defendant collided into middle car's rear bumper causing severe damage to his commercial van damage was almost \$5000.00. As a result, of colliding into the middle car so severely the middle vehicle collided with Couram's rear bumper causing damage and grave harm to her.

Appellant when the impact occurred she was caught completely off guard. After the impact the parties got out of the cars, Respondent asked if she was okay several times, she told him "I did not know." (R. 283-303)

Officer came out cars were moved to right side of road – we were about 2 miles plus from Broad River Exit on I-20 coming from Blythewood towards Lexington. (Exhibits R 449-478)

When Appellant arrived to her house she found that her dog had messed up the house pretty well, smelled, etc., was about two hours late, had to clean that up. She later went to her neighbor to arrange for her to get the dog if for some reason she did not make it home one day (by a certain time). The accident made her realize the vulnerability of her dog if something happened to her. (Prior to getting her dog in 2013, she only had herself to worry about).

This accident happened on a Friday, September 18, 2015; the weekend went okay, Appellant did not go out, do any work, however the extent of her injury manifested itself on Monday morning, September 21, 2015, on her way to work when Appellant suffered the aftermath of the accident she felt an intense sense of dread, fear of every car was driving to close, coming into her lane, big rigs commercial trucks and cars on her bumper for almost 40 minutes she feared being hit until she got to work she remained tense, tighten up she attempted to call her doctor's office to find out how long the aftermath will last, the same things happened on Tuesday except upon getting to work her muscles and her back hurt, at times it felt as if someone was digging their knuckle into her back, to work she had to sit up ram rod straight with a pad in her back, movement hurt. She was unable to relax, suffered headaches and pain in her back.

On September 23, 2015, Plaintiff could not bear the pain in her back and across her shoulders any longer she went to Lexington Urgent Care and saw Dr. Skaggs. Dr. Skaggs ordered x-rays (XR Cervical Spine AP Lateral and Odontoid Trauma and XR Chest PA and Lateral (\$1591). (ROA 393-398); upon release she was unable to get in her car and stood in the parking lot for 15 minutes to a half hour before she was able to get in her car. She was diagnosed with strain of neck muscle and strain of rhomboid muscle and given prescription for Tramadol. Plaintiff still in pain had to wait an hour for the prescription then was told by the pharmacist about the dangers of that medication to another she was taking and not to take both

together. (See Report Lexington Urgent Care bill submitted was \$1591). NOTE: Plaintiff's blood pressure went up drastically by the time she got to Lexington Medical documented at 143/99. (Lexington Urgent Care ROA 393-398); (Exhibit 1 ROA 447-450); (ROA 431 BC/BS Subrogation Letter Exhibit 5)

The pain got worse especially when driving to work. The medication made her sleepy and with the attacks and back pain it felt like someone jamming their finger in the middle of my back, I stayed off from work for three days September 24, 25 and 28, 2015. When she returned to work the anxiety, fear and panic continued, the pain continued. She was unable to take other medication with the Tramadol.

On October 2, 2015, Plaintiff's pain got progressively worse so she called to arrange appointment with her regular doctor's office, during the drive she began having anxiety/panic attack, throat began to ache/close up as a result her blood pressure was documented at 142/116. The pressure had not gone down by the end of the evaluation and she could not leave until it went down a bit. (Report from Palmetto Medical Associates - Frick-FNP - Bill submitted Exhibit 2 ROA 399-400).

Plaintiff was diagnosed with muscle spasms, back pain thoracic and lumbago and given a prescription for 800 mg Skelaxin and a referral for physical therapy. (See Medical Report Exhibit 2 ROA 399-400).

The referral to Vital Energy finally came thru around October 20, 2015, due to the flooding, etc., there was a delay -- Plaintiff went for an evaluation at Vital Energy Wellness and Rehabilitation on or about October 20, 2015 and being treatment on October 23, 2015 until February 2016. Another referral was provided by primary when the pain came back and Plaintiff after information Respondent's insurance went back into treatment and remained until May

2016. (Itemized Bill and Services submitted to Defendant and Plaintiff totaling \$10444). It is important to note when Appellant gets tired the middle of her back continues to ache. Her fear related to driving is much better and the headaches are few but she still has issues now with driving particularly in heavy traffic. Appellant now utilizes the hazard signal when traffic is heavy. (Medical Records from Vital Energy and Blue Cross sent via Custodian of Records as Subpoenaed by Defendants (ROA p 433-446).

On or about October 26, 2015, Appellant called Dr. Birdsong's Office explaining the Skelaxin (\$9) was not helping and she was prescribed Naproxen by Dr. Birdsong on October 29, 2015 (\$4). On her next appointment with Dr. Birdsong, Plaintiff was referred to Palmetto Spine Center. Medical Bill along with Custodian of Records Verification sent to both Defendant and Plaintiff). (Exhibit 2, ROA 401 and Exhibit 3, R p 408-424)

Plaintiff could not get her blood pressure to go down and it was increased several times, due to the increase in blood pressure medication and change of medication the plaintiff had a severe reaction to the medication that affect "some black people" the reaction lasted for close to a month in a half.

Plaintiff testified to how she was injured, the injuries she sustained and she testified to the origin of the injuries came about (ROA 236-254).

In her testimony the Plaintiff explained to the jury what happened, she explained that she suffered from panic disorder, PTSD, anxiety, chronic anxiety and stress and she had been suffering since 2009.

The one disorder she did not have or tell the jury at the time of the accident was that she had physical problems with her back, neck, shoulder, etc., that it was not until the accident

caused by the Defendant did she start having those issues. She told the jury about her being pre diabetic (borderline) and weight gain.

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