9

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-002145

RECEIVED
JUL 20 2018
SC Court of Appeals

GLEND A R. COURAM.....Appellant

v.

SHERWOOD TIDWELLRespondent

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Jescelyn T. Spitz
Bar No.: 101880
1612 Marion Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201-2939
Phone: (800) 774-8242
Fax: (843) 722-2867
Email: jspitz@clawsonandstaubes.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Before the trial began, Judge Jocelyn Newman stated that she intended to continue the case from the current term in order to give Appellant additional time to subpoena witnesses, per her prior request; however, the Appellant advised Judge Newman that she was prepared to proceed without witnesses. Transcript pp. 5-6. Appellant indicated that she wanted to proceed, because she wanted to “get this over with.” Transcript p. 6. At that time Judge Newman began with pre-trial matters. Id. The Appellant did not request a continuance until Judge Newman had already begun hearing and ruling on pre-trial matters and various evidentiary issues. Transcript p. 30. Judge Newman then denied the Appellant’s request for a continuance, because she had specifically affirmed the Appellant’s desire to go forward with the trial at the start of the hearing. Id.

In the case at hand, the Appellant agreed to withdraw her request for a continuance and move forward with the trial. She renewed a request for a continuance only after the pre-trial hearing began and once she become dissatisfied with the court’s rulings. There is a clear lack of an abuse of discretion by Judge Newman, as she specifically advised the Appellant prior to the pre-trial hearing that she was in fact willing to grant the Appellant’s request for a continuance; however, the Appellant made it abundantly clear on the record that she desired to move forward with the trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT’S REQUEST TO CHARGE THE JURY WITH PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 319, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000); State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2000)).

ARGUMENT

Once the Appellant rested her case, the Respondent moved for a directed verdict on various grounds, including the issue of punitive damages. Transcript p. 190. The Respondent argued that

there was no evidence presented of willful, wanton or reckless conduct. Id. Appellant then argued that the Respondent violated a statute; however, Judge Newman pointed out that the Appellant had made commentary throughout the trial and specifically during the Respondent's testimony, that she knew "it was an accident," and knew "what happened was unintentional," which is the "very antithesis of what punitive damages are intended for." Transcript p.191. Judge Newman then granted the Respondent's motion for a directed verdict on the issue of punitive damages, and it would not be submitted to the jury. Id.

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-32-520, in order to be awarded punitive damages, plaintiffs must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the harm was done as a result of the defendant's willful, reckless, or wanton conduct. While examining Respondent Tidwell, Appellant stated, "I know it was an accident." Transcript p.164. She further stated "what happened --- was unintentional." Id. "It was an accident, just simple as that." Id. By the Appellant's own questions and comments, she indicated that the Respondent was not willful, reckless or wanton. To warrant reversal, Judge Newman's refusal to charge the jury on punitive damages, "must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant." See State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 319, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000); State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2000)). Judge Newman's granting the Respondent's directed verdict motion as to punitive damages and refusal to charge the jury with punitive damages, was not erroneous, because it was clearly based on the Appellant's own testimony and statements during the trial.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE APPELLANT'S MEDICAL RECORDS AND BILLS.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the trial judge's discretion and to warrant reversal an appellant must show both abuse of discretion and prejudice. See Fields v. Reg'l Med. Cent. Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 25-26, 609 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2005).

ARGUMENT

Respondent objected to introduction of Appellant's medical records as hearsay. Transcript p. 25. The Appellant was clearly perplexed as to why the medical records would be hearsay, and Judge Newman explained that the medical records themselves were in fact hearsay. Transcript p. 26. Judge Newman went on to explain to Appellant that although the medical records were hearsay, Appellant could still, of course, testify about her injuries. Transcript pp. 26-27. Judge Newman ruled that Appellant was not permitted to introduce her medical records into evidence, because she would need to have doctors to discuss the records, which Appellant did not plan to do. Transcript p. 27. Judge Newman went on to explain to Appellant that the medical records were hearsay, because they contained statements from doctors, opinions and other inadmissible information. Id.

Once Appellant advised the court that she did not have any additional witnesses, Respondent moved for a directed verdict. Transcript p.176-177. The Respondent moved for a directed verdict in part based on Appellant's lack of evidence regarding any medical bills; Appellant failed to

discuss or enter any medical bills as exhibits during her case in chief. Transcript p.177. Appellant then advised the court that she did intend to introduce her medical bills as exhibits. Id. The court then inquired whether Appellant did, in fact, have additional witnesses to call, which she did not. Id. Appellant went on to argue that she had rested her case as to witnesses, but she had not rested her case “as far as putting forth my bills and my injuries, my damages as a result of the accident.” Transcript p.181. The Respondent then objected to introduction of the medical bills as there had been no testimony about the medical bills from any witness. Id. Judge Newman asked the Appellant to give her the stack of medical bills she had been referring to and wanted to introduce into evidence. Transcript pp. 183-184. While the Appellant struggled to assemble a stack of medical bills to introduce, Judge Newman specifically asked Appellant if the bills were in the stack of exhibits she intended to introduce. Transcript pp. 184-185. Appellant responded “no, ma’am.” Transcript p. 185. Judge Newman then ruled that she would not allow the Appellant to introduce the bills, because there was no sponsoring witness; Appellant had advised she had no further witnesses and waited for the Respondent to move for a directed verdict before she ever mentioned moving medical bills into evidence. Id. Further, Judge Newman stated that the fact that the Appellant was compiling the bills at that moment suggested that Appellant never intended to introduce them as exhibits, as she had been instructed to compile a stack of proposed exhibits. Transcript p. 186. The medical bills were not in the stack of proposed exhibits. Id.

As to the exclusion of the Appellant’s medical records, Judge Newman determining whether a piece of evidence was admissible or inadmissible under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure was squarely within her discretion, The trial court properly found that the proposed exhibits were Hearsay according to Rule 44, SCRPC. Additionally, the Appellant failed to proffer the proposed exhibits.

Finally, as to the Appellant’s medical bills, she never sought to properly introduce the documents into evidence. Only after she rested and contested the Respondent’s motion for a directed verdict did she seek to move the medical bills into evidence. Once she was given a chance to present the documents to the court, Appellant did not have the medical bills compiled to enter into evidence. By failing to attempt to properly enter the medical bill exhibits at trial or even present them to the court, Appellant failed to preserve the issue for the court to consider.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE OR FOR A NEW TRIAL NISI.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The denial of a motion for a new trial nisi is within the trial court’s discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” James v. Horace Mann Ins. Co., 371 S.C. 187, 193, 638 S.E.2d 667, 670 (2006). “A trial judge’s order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless h[er] decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion was controlled by an error of law.” Folkens v. Hunt, 300 S.C. 251, 254–55, 387 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1990). “[T]o reverse the denial of a new trial motion under [the thirteenth juror doctrine,] we must, in essence, conclude that the moving party was entitled to a directed verdict at trial.” Parker v. Evening Post Publ’g Co., 317 S.C. 236, 247, 452 S.E.2d 640, 646 (Ct.App.1994).

ARGUMENT

In the case at hand, the trial court denied the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial Absolute. The trial court cited Vinson v. Harley, 324 S.C. 389, 404, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996) in its denial of the Appellant's motion for a new trial absolute, which held that a new trial absolute should be granted "...if the amount of the verdict is grossly inadequate . . . so as to shock the conscience of the court and clearly indicates the figure reached was the result of passion, caprice prejudice partiality, corruption or some other improper motives." Judge Newman October 4, 2018 Order P. 2. The trial court held that "[n]one of those circumstances are present here." Id. at 2-3.

Further, the trial court denied the Appellant's Motion for a New Trial *Nisi Additur* on the grounds that there was "no evidence in the record" for the Court to determine that the jury's verdict was inadequate; based on the evidence and testimony, the Court found that the verdict was appropriate.

Judge Newman's order denying a new trial shall not be disturbed "unless h[er] decision [was] wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion was controlled by an error of law." Folkens v. Hunt, 300 S.C. 251, 254-55, 387 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1990). The trial court's decision is clearly supported by the testimony and evidence; as Judge Newman stated, "it appears that the jury found that [Appellant] lacked credibility in her contention that she sustained severe injuries and 'substantial damage' in a low-speed, three-car collision in which neither of the other drivers suffered any injury whatsoever." Judge Newman October 4, 2018 Order P. 3.

/

V. THE ISSUE OF JUDICIAL BIAS OR PREJUDICE WAS NOT RAISED BY THE APPELLANT TO THE TRIAL COURT; THEREFORE, THE ISSUE OF JUDICIAL BIAS OR PREJUDICE WAS NOT PRESERVED BY THE APPELLANT.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Under South Carolina law, if there is no evidence of judicial prejudice, a judge's failure to disqualify [herself] will not be reversed on appeal." Patel v. Patel, 359 S.C. 515, 524, 599 S.E.2d 114, 118 (2004).

ARGUMENT